1954

Kenneth Friedman and Virginia E. Friedman v. Mountain Fuel Supply Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Complaint

The material allegations of plaintiffs' complaint are as follows:

On or about November 19, 1951, there occurred an explosion in plaintiffs' residence located at 3100 South

1640 East Street, Salt Lake County, Utah (R. 1, 2). The explosion produced extensive damage to said residence (R. 2). As a direct and proximate result of the explosion occurring, the plaintiff, Virginia E. Friedman, suffered fright and marked shock to her nervous system, which caused her continuing severe emotional and nervous upset in that she does not sleep well and is easily disturbed and upset (R. 4).

The complaint alleges further that plaintiffs' residence was built in the year 1948; that the defendant, Wheeler & Tempest, under a Salt Lake County permit, issued May 19, 1948, excavated near said residence for and on behalf of the defendant, Mountain Fuel Supply Company, and assisted the defendant, Mountain Fuel Supply Company, in the installation of the necessary pipes and mains to supply gas to plaintiffs' residence; that the defendant, Byron W. Lundberg, or the defendant, Barney A. Todd, or both of them, excavated and installed a water line in plaintiffs' residence under a Salt Lake County permit dated June 21, 1948, and that said excavation and waterline installation were made adjacent and against the gas line installed by the defendants, Mountain Fuel Supply Company and Wheeler & Tempest (R. 2). The complaint charges that the defendants are liable to plaintiffs for the damages resulting from the explosion on the grounds that the defendants and each of them performed the work of installing said gas and waterlines in a negligent manner so that natural gas was permitted to escape into plaintiffs' residence other than in the mains and lines intended for that purpose, and that said explosion was the result of gas hav-

ing seeped into the basement of said residence and being ignited by the flame of the pilot light of either the gas water heater or furnace (R. 2, 3). Plaintiffs also claim that Mountain Fuel Supply Company failed and neglected to maintain said gas line and main in a proper and safe condition so that gas could not escape therefrom and enter into the residence of plaintiffs other than in pipes installed and intended for that purpose (R. 3).

Facts Established by the Evidence

The material facts established by the evidence in this case are without substantial controversy. They are as follows:

On November 19, 1951, at a few minutes past 10:00 o'clock a. m. an explosion occurred in the basement of the house owned by plaintiffs, located at 3100 South 1640 East in Salt Lake County, Utah (R. 143, 144, 222). The explosion caused substantial damage to the house (R. 152). However, the explosion did not disturb the plaintiff, Mrs. Friedman, from the position in which she was sitting in the living room at the time of the explosion (R. 145). In support of Mrs. Friedman's claim for personal injuries, she testified to only nervousness, loss of appetite, inability to sleep well and putting on weight at the rate of about two pounds a day. She was able, however, to take care of her normal household duties and her children (R. 147, 148, 149).

An investigation to determine the cause of the explosion was made by employees of the defendant, Mountain Fuel Supply Company, who arrived at the Friedman resi-

dence within less than an hour after the explosion; and by W. L. Butler, mechanical engineer for Salt Lake City Corporation, who arrived there shortly following the arrival of the gas company employees (R. 222, 440).

When the employees of the gas company arrived at the scene of the explosion, bubbles were coming up through a puddle of water at the side of the blacktop in the street in front of the Friedman residence (R. 222). Also, a strong odor of gas coming through the water meter box was noticeable (R. 223).

An excavation was made to uncover a portion of the gas main running north and south in the street in front and to the east of the Friedman residence (R. 224), which disclosed the following: The gas main had a kink in it; "It had been pulled to the east and upward—to the east about six inches—and upward about three or four inches out of the straight line" (R. 224). The gas main was located a foot above and about the same distance west of a parallel water main (R. 235-236). The gas main was cracked where it had been kinked and the kink was located just above where the water service line to the Friedman residence was connected to the water main in the street (R. 244, plaintiffs' Exhibit 33, which is a section of the gas main in question showing the kink and crack). At the point of the kink there were gouges which were made by the impact of a great force (R. 246-247 and plaintiffs' Exhibit 33).

The testimony as to the immediate cause of the explosion and the investigation made to determine the same was given by Mervin A. Cook, Professor of Metallurgy at the

University of Utah, D. J. Robison, Assistant Superintendent of Distribution for Mountain Fuel Supply Company, and W. L. Butler, Mechanical Engineer for Salt Lake City Corporation. Mervin A. Cook testified that, in the afternoon of the day following the explosion, he made a thorough investigation of the conditions that existed in the basement and around the house, and so forth, to determine what was the cause of the explosion (R. 174).

The investigation made by said witnesses disclosed that gas had escaped from a break in the gas main in the street in front of plaintiffs' residence and from there had migrated to and through the walls of plaintiffs' house into the basement thereof (R. 190-191, 249, 254, 444-446, 449, 450, 463, 464). The investigation made by said witnesses covered among other things, the gas furnace, gas water heater, gas service line, gas meter and gas regulator, none of which showed any damage or leakage (R. 199, 206, 208, 209, 240, 244, 254, 279-280, 417, 420, 422, 423, 435, 438, 451, 453, 455). The only conflict in the evidence, which conflict is immaterial, is whether the gas escaping from the break in the gas main entered the basement at the north end of the east basement wall as testified to by Butler and Robison, or entered at the south end of said wall through a crack in the cement near the gas service line as testified to by Cook (R. 175-176, 178, 188, 206-208, 223, 224, 237-238, 239, 240, 249, 450, 463).

The section of the gas main in which the break occurred (plaintiffs' Exhibit 33) was installed by the defendant, Wheeler & Tempest, during the month of February, 1948 (R. 140, 141, 287). It was a two-inch, new, wrapped,

steel pipe with an estimated life expectancy in service of about one hundred years and capable of holding a pressure of 600 to 800 pounds per square inch, but to be used to carry gas having a pressure of only 25 to 35 pounds per square inch. It was installed with the highest degree of care, in excellent condition and carefully tested for leakage before being covered (R. 366-370, 382-388, 399-403). The uncontradicted evidence shows that the gas main when installed by Wheeler & Tempest was "perfectly straight", "was laid in perfect condition", and was not kinked as shown by respondents' Exhibit 33 (R. 368, 370, 374, 379, 388, 402, 403). In view of the verdict in favor of the defendant, Wheeler & Tempest, it is conclusively established that the gas main was properly installed, and that the kink therein from which the break resulted cannot be attributed to any negligence on the part of either Wheeler & Tempest or Mountain Fuel Supply Company (R. 45, 101, 104, 105, 107, 108).

Under the evidence, it is indisputable that the break in the gas main resulted from a kink therein produced by a heavy blow which weakened the pipe and caused it to break open suddenly within a matter of hours prior to the explosion (R. 246, 247, 273, 274, 282, 304, 306, 308, 310-311, 313, 315, 446-447, 460, 467, 468, 469).

Since the installation of the gas main was completed and until the investigation following the explosion, Mountain Fuel Supply Company had had no occasion to excavate said gas main (R. 248) and it is established by stipulation that since the installation of the gas line until the time of the explosion, the only excavation in the vicinity of said

line was made by the defendants, Byron W. Lundberg and Barney A. Todd in laying a water service line to plaintiffs' house between June 21, 1940, and July 8, 1948 (R. 288, 317). All the evidence points directly to the fact that the gas main was struck and kinked by a mechanical digger, known as a back-hoe, while digging the trench for said water service line (R. 246-248, 294, 297, 298, 311, 313, 325, 333, 490, 494). The defendants, Lundberg and Todd and the witnesses produced by them were evasive and never directly denied that such was the fact (R. 294, 319, 320, 322, 327, 504-506, 511, 512, 517).

The evidence is conclusive that Mountain Fuel Supply Company had no notice of any leak in its line nor any opportunity to have learned of the same prior to the explosion (R. 176, 192, 199, 270, 282, 283, 308, 310, 460, 467, 468). Mrs. Friedman testified that she had never detected the odor of gas prior to the explosion (R. 149). All the witnesses, including those sponsored by plaintiffs, testified that the break in the line occurred suddenly and within a matter of hours prior to the explosion (R. 270, 282, 283, 460, 467, 468). It is apparent from plaintiffs' Exhibit 33 that a large quantity of gas was escaping from the broken main. Professor Cook, plaintiffs' witness, testified that the gas accumulated in the basement of said house rapidly—within less than a half hour—before the occurrence of the explosion (R. 176, 192, 199).

Proceedings Following Close of Evidence

At the close of all of the evidence, the defendant, Mountain Fuel Supply Company, moved for a directed verdict

(R. 519). The case was submitted to the jury which returned a verdict against Mountain Fuel Supply Company for general and special damages and for damages to Mrs. Friedman. The jury returned separate verdicts in favor of the other defendants (R. 43-50). Following the reception of the verdict, the defendant, Mountain Fuel Supply Company, pursuant to Rule 50 (b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, moved to have the verdict against it and judgment entered thereon set aside and to have judgment entered in accordance with its motion for a directed verdict, or, in the alternative, for a new trial (R. 120-121). The trial court denied each of said motions (R. 128). Thereafter, the appellant duly perfected an appeal from the judgment entered in this case (R. 130-136).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. The verdict of the jury and the judgment entered thereon against appellant is not supported by the record in this case or any substantial evidence therein, and the trial court erred in denying the motion of the defendant, Mountain Fuel Supply Company, for judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

2. The trial court erred in denying appellant's motion for a new trial.

(a) The trial court erred in instructing the jury to the prejudice of the appellant.

(b) The trial court erred in precluding appellant from proving its second defense to respondents' complaint.

ARGUMENT

POINT NO. 1

THE VERDICT OF THE JURY AND THE JUDGMENT ENTERED THEREON AGAINST APPELLANT IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD IN THIS CASE OR ANY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE THEREIN AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION OF THE DEFENDANT, MOUNTAIN FUEL SUPPLY COMPANY, FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT.

The controlling principles of law in ruling on a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict have been stated in the following cases recently decided by this court:

In *Jackson v. Colston et al.*, 116 Utah 288, 209 P. 2d 566, the court states the law as follows:

“The only question here to be decided is whether the court erred in directing a verdict for the defendants. It is fundamental that the burden rests upon the plaintiff to establish the causal connection between the injury and the alleged negligence of the defendant: *Tremelling v. Southern Pac. Co.*, 51 Utah 189, 170 P. 80; that the court may not permit the jury to speculate concerning defendants’ liability; *Dern Inv. Co. v. Carbon County Land Co.*, 94 Utah 76, 75 P. 2d 660; and that the court is required to direct a verdict unless there is evidence from which the jury could reasonably find in favor of the plaintiff.”

In *Seybold v. Union Pac. R. Co.*, (Utah), 239 P. 2d 174, the court held:

“We have no disagreement with the time-honored rule that if there is substantial evidence to support the conclusion of the trier of the fact it will not be disturbed on review. But that means more than a mere scintilla of evidence. See 9 Wigmore, 3d Ed., Sec. 2494, for a discussion of the test to be applied to the quantum of evidence necessary to support a finding by the trier of facts. In that section, at page 296, he says, ‘There was an old phrase that a mere scintilla of evidence was sufficient; but this has been abandoned by most courts.’ Citing a plethora of cases. After referring to a variety of methods of phrasing the rule and a great many authorities, he concludes the section with this: ‘Perhaps the best statement of the test is: Are there facts in evidence which if unanswered would justify men of ordinary reason and fairness in affirming the question which the plaintiff is bound to maintain.’ We approve the rule thus stated by Mr. Wigmore. If there is any substantial competent evidence upon which a jury acting fairly and reasonably could make the finding, it should stand. But if the finding is so plainly unreasonable as to convince the court that no jury acting fairly and reasonably could make the finding, it cannot be said to be supported by substantial evidence. See also 20 Am. Jur. 1033.”

In *Boskovich v. Utah Const. Co.*, (Utah), 259 P. 2d 885, this court held:

“It is fundamental that where there is no evidence upon a material part of the plaintiff’s claim, it is the court’s duty to direct a verdict.”

The claims stated in the complaint upon which plaintiffs seek relief from the Mountain Fuel Supply Company

are that the work of installing the gas line in question was performed in a negligent manner so that natural gas was permitted to escape into plaintiffs' residence and also that Mountain Fuel Supply Company failed and neglected to maintain said gas line and main in proper and safe condition so that gas could not escape therefrom and enter into the residence of plaintiffs. In support of said claims, plaintiffs introduced into evidence a section of the gas main in front of plaintiffs' residence which showed a kink and break therein as the same existed at the time of the explosion (Exhibit 33). The gas line in question was installed for Mountain Fuel Supply Company by Wheeler & Tempest who were independent contractors with many years of experience in the installation of gas and other utility lines. Although it be conceded that any negligence of Wheeler & Tempest in making such installation would be imputable to Mountain Fuel Supply Company, it is now conclusively established in this case by the verdict in favor of Wheeler & Tempest that the gas line was not negligently installed. It is also established by the record in this case that the kink and resulting crack in the main, as shown by Exhibit 33, which permitted gas to escape and seep into plaintiffs' basement were caused by a heavy blow inflicted subsequent to its installation by persons other than the defendant, Mountain Fuel Supply Company.

As pointed out under the statement of facts, the pipeline in question was new pipe which was installed by Wheeler & Tempest with the highest degree of care. It is undisputed that, but for the damage inflicted to the pipe by a person or persons other than Mountain Fuel Supply

Company, it would not have ruptured and permitted the escape of gas. Professor Mervin B. Hogan, head of the Department of Mechanical Engineering at the University of Utah, who was sponsored by and testified in behalf of plaintiffs, stated that in his judgment the break in the pipe was caused by the impact of some metallic body which made the kink in the pipe (R. 315). He testified:

“Q. Now, the situation which you describe as to the traffic over the street, and so forth, that has relation to the fact that this pipe has been damaged by some blow; is that correct?

“A. Oh, yes, sir; yes, without that damage, there would be no stress concentration.

“Q. Yes; and, if—you have examined the pipe?

“A. Yes, sir.

“Q. And, if the pipe hadn't been damaged, you wouldn't expect that to have happened?

“A. I am sure it wouldn't” (R. 310-311).

The record, without conflict, shows that Mountain Fuel Supply Company had no notice of the leak in or of the damaged condition of the gas main until its investigation following the explosion. Mrs. Friedman testified that she had not at any time prior to this explosion detected the odor of gas (R. 149). Both plaintiffs' and defendants' witnesses testified, without conflict, that the rupture in the gas main which permitted gas to escape occurred suddenly and within a few hours prior to the time of the explosion; thus, no opportunity was afforded the gas company to have discovered and repaired the damage to the ruptured pipe. According to Professor Hogan, the blow and resulting kink

in the pipe resulted in an area of stress which eventually caused it to suddenly rupture or "flip open" (R. 308-310). Mr. Robison and Mr. Butler, who testified on the subject, stated that the break in the pipe would have occurred within a matter of hours prior to the explosion (R. 270, 467, 468).

Howsoever the evidence may be viewed, the record in this case is conclusive that the gas line in question was properly installed, and that the break in the line which permitted gas to escape into plaintiffs' residence was caused by damage to the same inflicted subsequent to its installation by the negligent acts of a person or persons other than the Mountain Fuel Supply Company. The evidence all points to the fact that the kink in the line that eventually resulted in the break was caused by the impact of a mechanical digger which, subsequent to the installation of the gas main, was used to excavate a trench for the installation of the water service line to plaintiffs' residence.

The record shows, therefore, that plaintiff not only failed to produce any substantial evidence of an act or omission on the part of Mountain Fuel Supply Company which proximately caused the injuries complained of, but that such injuries were proximately caused by the negligent act of some third party or parties.

Appellant's motion for a directed verdict specifically called the trial court's attention to the proposition that the plaintiff, Virginia E. Friedman, could not recover upon her claim set forth in the third count of the complaint, because the evidence showed that her alleged damages were based solely on fright and mental disturbances unaccompanied or preceded by physical injury (R. 519).

The testimony of Mrs. Friedman with respect to her claimed damages is as follows: That she was sitting in the living room at the time of the explosion (R. 144-145); that the explosion did not disturb her from the position in which she was sitting (R. 145); that after the explosion she became extremely nervous, was not able to eat very well, couldn't sleep, and started putting on weight at about the rate of 2 pounds per day (R. 147). She testified that this condition continued for about three weeks (R. 148).

The applicable rule is concisely stated in 15 Am. Jur., Section 189, at Page 608, as follows:

"Generally, however, no recovery can be had for fright alone caused by a negligent act which is neither accompanied nor followed by physical injury. In other words, mere fright alone cannot be made the basis of an action for damages, unless caused by the willful wrong of another."

In *State v. Baltimore Transit Company*, 80 A. 2d 13, 28 A. L. R. 1061, the court held that damages for mental distress in connection with an injury to property is not recoverable in an action for the property tort. Following this case is an exhaustive annotation on the subject of "Recovery for mental shock or distress in connection with injury to or interference with tangible property". 28 A. L. R. 2d 1070-1104.

POINT NO. 2

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

Our principal point is that the judgment entered on the verdict against Mountain Fuel Supply Company is not

supported by the record in this case or any substantial evidence therein, and that the trial court erred in denying appellant's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. However, as provided by Rule 50 (a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, appellant prayed that, if its motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict be denied, appellant be granted a new trial. The argument which follows is directed at the court's denial of said motion.

(a) *The trial court erred in instructing the jury to the prejudice of appellant.*

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