1954

Kenneth Friedman and Virginia E. Friedman v. Mountain Fuel Supply Company : Brief of Plaintiffs and Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

"Q. Now, will you refer again to Plaintiffs' Exhibit 33, and tell me, if you can, from an examination of it, approximately the distance

between the gas main and the water main, as

MR. KASTLER: That is '32'.

(Discussion.)

MR. ALLEN: Yes, I am referring now to Exhibit 32, the diagram.

A. The lines were laid between six inches and a foot apart.

Q. In some places they are as close as six inches?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Now, Mr. Robison, what is the general practice with reference to the laying of gas mains, by your company, adjacent to water mains?

A. We try to lay them away from the water mains some distance.

Q. In some instances, if it is possible, you put them across the street, do you not?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And this at least down the section that existed in front of the Friedman home was laid pretty close to the water main?

A. Fairly close.

Q. Now, why is it that you have a policy of laying the gas main at some distance from the water main?

A. So that there will be no difficulty in us digging up our gas main, or the water company connecting onto their water main, that we will not get together and not get the wrong pipe for—there will be room for each company to work on their individual lines.

Q. In other words, you lay them at some distance, so there won't be any danger of people interfering with your gas lines, if they are digging for some other legitimate purpose?

A. Correct.

Q. You recognize there is possibility of that occurring?

A. Yes sir."

It is clear from his testimony in this regard that the gas company normally tries to lay its lines some distance from water mains and other facilities for the very reason that they are likely to be damaged by third persons making legitimate installations. It is further clear that this hazard is clearly within the contemplation of the appellant company.

The respondents therefore submit that upon the basis of the testimony here adduced, there was sufficient competent evidence from which the jury could find that the appellant company was negligent in failing to maintain any policy of inspection or that it was concurrently negligent, assuming a third party bent the gas main in laying the gas main so close to the water main when there was a clear recognizable possibility that it would be interfered with by third persons, and that such interference might cause damage.

Previously in this brief the statement has been made that respondents dispute the contention of appellant that there could be no disagreement as to the source of the gas which escaped in the Friedman home and exploded. There is other evidence in the record which points to the

possibility that the gas may have come from a defective meter or gas regulator, and that under the evidence and the instructions of the Court, the jury might have so concluded.

In this connection respondents desire to call the Court's attention to Instructions 25 and 26 (R. 111) which are as follows:

INSTRUCTION 25

"If you find that gas causing the explosion escaped from some other source than the damaged pipe in the street, you will find for defendant, Todd, No Cause of Action."

INSTRUCTION 26

"If you can reasonably determine from the preponderance of evidence presented in this case that the gas that caused the explosion in plaintiffs' house came from some other source than the damaged pipe in the street, your verdict should be for defendant, Byron W. Lundberg, No Cause of Action."

The respondents feel that these instructions were proper and permitted the jury, under the evidence, to consider whether the gas came from a source other than the broken main.

Mr. D. J. Robison testified that the gas, the gas mains, and everything up to and including the meter inside the Friedman home, was owned and controlled by the appellant. (R. 230, 231, Tr. 96, 97)

According to the testimony of Davis Watkins, Superintendent of Distribution of the appellant, the day following the explosion the gas meter was taken by the

appellant. (R. 414, Tr. 28) The testimony of Mr. Watkins as to what examination was made of the meter is very interesting. He testified as to the usual course of inspection of meters at the shop of the appellant, and contended that the meter from the Friedman house was given the same treatment. He further claimed that tests showed it did not leak.

However, it is important to consider that he testified he was not present when the gas meter was tested. (R. 409, Tr. 276, R. 410, Tr. 277) The evidence further developed that it was the custom of the foreman of the shop to sign the inspection card which is kept as a permanent record on each meter from its purchase by the appellant to its removal from service. In this instance, after the tests made following the explosion, for some reason the foreman did not sign the card. (R. 430, Tr. 296) No satisfactory explanation was ever offered for this.

No one who actually physically handled or inspected the Friedman meter was ever called to testify.

The record further shows that certain repairs were made to the meter. Mr. Watkins testified that the gaskets were replaced, meter torn down, plates removed, and certain other work done upon it. (R. 430, Tr. 296) Mr. Watkins contended, of course, that this was standard procedure and did not necessarily mean there was anything the matter with the meter. Such testimony, however, was certainly evidence which the jury had a right to consider in determining in their minds whether the meter was or had been defective.

Mr. Watkins further testified that no examination

of the gas regulator was ever made so far as he knew. (R. 431, Tr. 297)

Mr. Watkins was asked if it were possible for a meter to leak in the event the gaskets broke or dried out. He testified that it was possible. (R. 438, Tr. 304).

In connection with the consideration of another source of gas than the broken main, testimony of Dr. Melvin A. Cook of the University of Utah should be carefully considered.

Dr. Cook is eminently qualified as an explosives expert, and his qualifications were examined at some length. (R. 172, Tr. 35, 36, 37) Dr. Cook was called to make an examination of the premises the day following the explosion. He made a narrative statement of the kind of investigation he conducted. (R. 176, Tr. 39, 40) He testified that the unmistakable physical evidence left by the explosion showed that the focal point of the blast was immediately above the meter, the gas inlet and the regulator. (Exhibit 28, Tr. 47, R. 188, and Exhibit 21, Tr. 52, R. 188)

The following testimony of Dr. Cook is significant on the matter of the place where the gas entered the basement. He testified as follows: (R. 190, Tr. 54)

“Q. Do you have an opinion, from your investigation, as to the source from which the gas came, that entered the basement in the position you have testified?

A. Yes, the evidence of the explosion to me shows that the gas came through at the point that the gas main—gas line—came into the house. Now, where it originated, beyond that, I

wouldn't know, except that that was—this particular repair—was going on in the front, and I assumed that the break had occurred there, but it was clear to me that it had entered the building, at any rate, on the south side of the building, where the gas inlet came into the building.”

On cross-examination by counsel for Todd, one of the defendants, the following appears in the record: (R. 209, Tr. 74)

“Q. Now, according to your theory of the area of concentration—the contour of this blast—had there been a meter there that was leaking at the time, or immediately prior to the explosion, could this same contour have occurred in the blast?

A. Yes. if there were a leak, yes.

Q. Same kind?

A. That's right.”

Dr. Cook's theory of the way in which the explosion occurred was that gas jetted in from a point where the gas inlet was located and the meter and regulator, and with not too much diffusion reached a point approximately mid-way in the basement, where it was ignited by the gas furnace or the pilot light of the gas water heater. As a consequence, the greatest point of impact and the focal point of the blast was the point near the meter, causing singeing and extensive damage to the south part of the house, and leaving the north part of the basement relatively unscathed.

In his testimony Dr. Cook carefully explained, by the use of numerous photographs to the jury, his theory

of how the blast occurred. (Plaintiff's Exhibits 4, 5, 8, 9, 10, 21, 22, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28)

Respondents contend that upon the basis of all of this testimony concerning the meter and concerning the contour of the blast that there was evidence under Instructions 25 and 26 from which the jury might reasonably and fairly conclude that the source of gas which exploded came from the area near the gas inlet line, and possibly from a faulty meter or pressure regulator.

Counsel for the appellant comments on the injuries to Mrs. Friedman. The facts concerning the sensation she felt and the circumstances which occurred at the blast are clearly set forth in the transcript. (R. 144, 145, Tr. 8, 9) There can be little question that the portion of the house in which Mrs. Friedman was seated came down all around her as if shaken by an earthquake. It is further clear that one of the Friedman children sitting close to her mother was thrown from her chair by the force of the explosion and suffered an injury to her head. (R. 145, 146, Tr. 9, 10)

Respondents submit that the physical effect of the blast upon Mrs. Friedman is entirely sufficient to justify the award made to her.

In summation of the argument under this point, respondents feel that upon a fair consideration of all the evidence before the trial jury the requirement of the Seybold case, has been met.

“If there is any substantial competent evidence upon which a jury, acting fairly and reasonably, could make the finding, it should stand”

POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

In appellant's brief, under its Point 2, contending that the trial court should have granted a new trial, appellant admits that the principal point is whether there is substantial evidence upon which the jury could have returned the verdict that it did.

The evidence and argument based upon it is **amply** set forth in the argument under Point I of this brief, and we see no useful purpose to be served by repeating the same material here.

Appellant also contends that it was prejudiced by certain instructions of the trial court. The respondents contend that upon a full consideration of the evidence, the instructions complained of did not prejudice the appellant.

POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY PRECLUDED APPELLANT FROM INTRODUCING EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE SECOND DEFENSE SET FORTH IN ITS ANSWER.

The simple question presented by this point is whether, because the plaintiffs provided themselves with insurance against the damage which occurred, the appellant should have the right to insist that the insurance company, if any, be made a party to the action, or whether the defendant is hurt by a non-joinder of the insurance company.

The respondents contend that the only purpose in suggesting or requiring the insurance company to be

made a party is to be able to bring the fact that the plaintiffs had insurance before the jury in an attempt to prejudice the plaintiffs thereby. The appellant cannot seriously contend, nor does it, that it might be subjected to double liability by any court in this state if the insurance company is not made a party. It is abundantly clear that the appellant would be completely and absolutely protected against any such result.

It should be pointed out that before the matter was tried, a motion was filed by the respondents to strike the second defense. This motion was heard and denied by one of the Judges of the Third District Court.

Thereafter, at the trial, the appellant made an offer of proof concerning the second defense, which was denied by the trial judge. The respondents are wholly in accord with the statement made by the Court when the offer of proof was denied, which statement is fully set forth in the appellant's brief on page 21.

It should also be considered that after the motion to strike the second defense was denied, the appellant made no move or effort to procure an order of court requiring the respondents to make the insurance company a party.

Further, there is no contention on the part of the appellant that it has or had any defense which might be asserted against the insurance company which it was not in a position to assert against the plaintiffs and respondents.

In support of the appellant's position, two Utah cases are cited, the first, National Union Fire Ins. Co.

v. Denver & R. G. R. Co., 44 Utah 26, 137 P. 653, and the other, Bank of America Fork v. Smith, 44 Utah 284, 140 P. 122. The respondents take the position that neither of these cases is in point, based upon the circumstances in the case at issue.

In the National Union Fire Insurance Company case, the insurance company sued in its own name to recover \$250.00 which it had paid of a \$600.00 loss suffered by the insured. The question in that case was not whether the insurance company was a necessary party, but whether it had the right to sue at all. The case held that the insurance company had the right. The respondents contend that the insurance company in this case might have sued in its own name, but was not a necessary party.

The Court's attention is invited to the following language from the National Union Fire Insurance Company case, found at page 655 of 137 P.:

"Starting out with the postulate that under our own statute the claim in question was assignable and that the real party in interest must sue, why could not respondent bring this action upon the cause of action in this case precisely the same as it might sue on any other cause of action? Does the fact that some other person or persons may also have or claim to have some interest in the claim sued on deprive the respondent of the right to sue? We think not."

The second case cited by appellant involved an action by the bank against defendants on a subscription contract among them to put up money to build a bridge. The secretary of the defendants' association borrowed

money from the bank on the strength of the agreement. The question arose as to whether the bank could sue as an equitable assignee of the contract. The Court held that the bank was able to bring the action. The case does not hold, however, that the signers of the agreement would not be able to bring an action based upon it, and the following language from that case is pointed out to the Court:

“But no objection was made that the plaintiff was not the real party in interest. The defense made is based on the ground that in no event are appellants liable either to the plaintiff or to any one else.”

Neither of these cases appears to be a holding that the insurance company or an assignee of a right of action is a necessary party. In the second case cited that question was never even raised.

The respondents are entirely in accord with the statement of the trial court in this case which is quoted verbatim on page 21 of the appellant's brief. In support of that position the respondents invite the Court's attention to the following Utah cases:

In the case of *Cederloff v. Whited*, 169 P. 2d 777, there was an action to recover for personal injuries and for damage to an automobile as a result of a collision. The trial court limited recovery for damage to the car to \$50.00, which was the amount of the deductible insurance contract.

This court held that such a limit was error by the trial court. In that case the insurance company was not joined. The defendant and appellant in that case relied

upon Johansen v. Cudahy Packing Company, 152 P. 2d 98. In commenting upon the Johansen case, Mr. Justice Wade has the following to say, at page 780 of 169 P. 2d:

"The case was dismissed by the trial court. One of the grounds for dismissal was that the plaintiff could not maintain such action because the insurance company as a result of the payment had been subrogated to the claim of the plaintiff. We held that to the extent of the amount paid by it, the insurance company was subrogated to the claim of the plaintiff, that since plaintiff had a claim in excess of the amount paid by the insurance company she was also interested in the claim and was a proper party plaintiff and could maintain the action, on behalf of herself and as trustee for the insurance company; that there was only one cause of action which could not be divided into two suits; that some courts hold that the insurance company would be a proper party plaintiff, and some even go so far as to hold that it is a necessary party and in case it refused to join as plaintiff it must be joined as a defendant, but that the failure to join the insurance company was at most a defect in parties which defendant by its failure to raise had waived and therefore the action should proceed in the name of the plaintiff alone."

On the same page the opinion has the following language, which the respondents claim is applicable to the situation at bar:

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